# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARNOLD K. ANDERSON,	SUPREME COURT NO.	
Appellant,	)	APR 2 3 2018
VS.	) APPEAL	CLERK OF SUPPEME COURT
STATE OF NEVADA,	)	DEPUTY CLERK
Respondent.	) DISTRICT COURT NO.	C-16-319021-1
	)	

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

SANDRA L. STEWART Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No.: 6834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 Attorneys for Appellant APR Z 3 200 ELIZABETH A. BROWN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT DEPUTY CLERK

18-15435

÷.

#

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

### A. **BASIS FOR APPELLATE JURISDICTION**

NRAP 4(b); NRS 177.015(3)

# B. FILING DATES ESTABLISHING TIMELINESS OF APPEAL

12-04-17: Judgment of Conviction filed<sup>2</sup>

12-12-17: Notice of Appeal filed<sup>3</sup>

# C. ASSERTION OF FINAL ORDER OR JUDGMENT

This appeal is from a judgment of conviction.

#### Π

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict that involves at least one conviction for an offense that is a Category A or B felony. As such, this case is not within those categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b).

<sup>1</sup> Hereafter AA shall refer to ANDERSON's Appendix filed herewith.

AA/8/1809.

AA/8/1817.

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

**<u>ISSUE NO. 1</u>**: WHETHER ANDERSON'S 5<sup>TH</sup>, 6<sup>TH</sup>, AND 14<sup>TH</sup> AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO COUNSEL AND A FAIR TRIAL WERE VIOLATED AMOUNTING TO PREJUDICIAL ERROR AND REQUIRING REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTIONS WHERE HIS MOTIONS FOR NEW COUNSEL DUE TO DISINTEGRATION OF THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP, WERE DENIED.

**<u>ISSUE NO. 2</u>**: WHETHER ANDERSON'S 5<sup>TH</sup> AND 14<sup>TH</sup> AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL AND AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY, REDUNDANT CONVICTIONS, AND MULTIPLE UNITS OF PROSECUTION FOR THE SAME ACTS WERE VIOLATED AMOUNTING TO PREJUDICIAL ERROR AND REQUIRING REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTION FOR *BATTERY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM* (COUNT 3) WHERE THE ACTS SUPPORTING THAT CONVICTION HAVE ALREADY BEEN PROSECUTED AND PUNISHED PURSUANT TO HIS CONVICTION FOR *ATTEMPTED MURDER* (COUNT 1) WHERE BOTH CONVICTIONS ARE BASED ON THE SAME SET OF FACTS OCCURRING AT THE SAME TIME.

**<u>ISSUE NO. 3</u>**: WHETHER ANDERSON'S 5<sup>TH</sup>, 6<sup>TH</sup>, AND 14<sup>TH</sup> AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES AGAINST HIM AND TO A FAIR TRIAL WERE VIOLATED AMOUNTING TO PREJUDICIAL ERROR AND REQUIRING REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTIONS WHERE THE COURT ALLOWED AN INVESTIGATOR EMPLOYED BY THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY TO TESTIFY TO WHAT ANDERSON'S DAUGHTER HAD ALLEGEDLY TOLD HIM DURING A PROFFER.

III

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. <u>NATURE OF THE CASE</u>

This is a case where ANDERSON was convicted of shooting BOLDEN on August 23, 2016, in the presence of BOLDEN's girlfriend (Rhonda Robinson) and ANDERSON's daughter (Jad Anderson).<sup>4</sup> ANDERSON claimed that he was in California with family at the time of the shooting, and that he had a picture of him (taken by his sister, Latish Anderson) standing on the beach in Santa Monica on the date of the shooting.<sup>5</sup> Latish was unable to make it to Nevada to testify at time of trial,<sup>6</sup> and the Court refused to allow her to testify via video.<sup>7</sup>

Despite ongoing conflicts with his court-appointed attorney (Frizzell) from November 11, 2016<sup>8</sup> until March 16, 2017<sup>9</sup>, the court continuously denied ANDERSON's requests to appoint new counsel to represent him, forcing ANDERSON to opt to represent himself,<sup>10</sup> and adding insult to injury by having the same attorney act as standby counsel.<sup>11</sup> On May 25, 2017, ANDERSON

- <sup>4</sup> AA/1/2-6, 88.
- <sup>5</sup> AA/1/84
- <sup>6</sup> AA/7/1551.
- <sup>7</sup> AA/7/1500.
- <sup>8</sup> AA/1/109-110.
- <sup>9</sup> AA/2/270.
- <sup>10</sup> AA/2/282:10-12.
- <sup>11</sup> AA/6/1301.

brought a motion to dismiss Frizzell as standby counsel.<sup>12</sup> The court refused.<sup>13</sup> From that date until the day of trial (08-28-17), <sup>14</sup> ANDERSON was complaining that he had not received discovery from Frizzell and that Frizzell had neglected to convey plea deals offered by the state, would not conduct research for him, and refused to answer his phone calls.<sup>15</sup>

During trial, the court permitted testimony to come in through the district attorney's investigator<sup>16</sup> about what ANDERSON's daughter (Jad) had purportedly told him during a proffer meeting.<sup>17</sup> Jad was not present to testify at time of trial.<sup>18</sup> Despite this being a violation of the Confrontation Clause, the testimony was permitted under the rule of forfeiture, pursuant to the state's claim that Jad was unavailable because ANDERSON had told her during a jail call to her phone number to leave her cell phone where it was so she couldn't be tracked and to leave the jurisdiction. There was no indication during the phone call that ANDERSON was actually talking to Jad, and ANDERSON denied that he had been talking to her.<sup>19</sup> Moreover, there was evidence that Jad was in violation of

- <sup>13</sup> AA/3/647.
- <sup>14</sup> AA/4/775.

<sup>15</sup> AA/3/626, 630, 641-642; AA/4/714-716, 747, 750, 755, 757-758; AA/5/1160-1161, 1163, 1186, 1302; AA/6/1308-1309.

- <sup>16</sup> AA/7/1412-1413.
- <sup>17</sup> AA/7/1413.
- $\begin{array}{ccc} {}^{18} & AA/5/1059-1060. \\ {}^{19} & AA/5/1062. \end{array}$
- <sup>9</sup> AA/5/1063.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> AA/3/595.

her probation and there was a warrant for her arrest, so she would not have appeared at trial regardless of what ANDERSON said to her, for fear of being arrested.<sup>20</sup> ANDERSON's objection on hearsay and confrontation grounds was overruled.<sup>21</sup>

ANDERSON was convicted of attempted murder with use (Count 1) and battery with use (Count 3).<sup>22</sup> Both crimes are alleged in the information to have been committed "by shooting at or into the body of the said TERRY BOLDEN."<sup>23</sup> Accordingly, ANDERSON contends that he was convicted and sentenced twice for committing the same acts, and that the battery conviction should be reversed because it is redundant to the attempted murder conviction.

### B. <u>COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS</u>

Please see the Appendix table of contents which is sorted chronologically.

### C. <u>DISPOSITION BY THE COURT BELOW<sup>24</sup></u>

COUNT	CHARGE		SENTENCE
1	Attempted Murder With Use	٠	8-20 years
	(NRS 193.330, 193.165)	. <b>2</b> 4	
2	Robbery with Use (NRS 200.380)		Not guilty
3	Battery with Use (NRS 200.481)		4-10

- <sup>20</sup> AA/5/1069-1070.
- <sup>21</sup> AA/7/1413-1414.
- <sup>22</sup> AA/8/1809.
- <sup>23</sup> AA/1/102.
- <sup>24</sup> AA/1/101; AA/8/1809.

All counts to run consecutive to each other. ANDERSON will not be eligible for parole until he has served 12 years in prison. At time of sentencing,

ANDERSON was 44.<sup>25</sup> He will not be eligible for parole until he is 56 years old.

#### V

# STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The main relevant facts surrounding this case which have not already been discussed above under "Nature Of The Case," revolve around the actual shooting of Bolden and arrest of ANDERSON. Those are discussed here. Remaining facts are discussed below in the context of the issues to which they relate.

According to Bolden, AJ claimed that Bolden owed him \$200.<sup>26</sup> On August 23, 2016, AJ called Bolden who was visiting his brother and told him that he (AJ) was coming over.<sup>27</sup> When AJ arrived, he told Bolden he wanted his \$200. Bolden said he didn't have it, whereupon AJ asked if Bolden could loan him some gas money. Bolden pulled out about \$200 to give AJ some gas money, whereupon AJ snatched the entire \$200. At that point, Bolden attacked AJ and a fight ensued.<sup>28</sup> At some point, AJ told his daughter in the car with him (Jad) to get his gun. She did so. Then, AJ took the gun and shot Bolden five times.<sup>29</sup> This was witnessed

- <sup>25</sup> AA/1/1.
- <sup>26</sup> AA/6/1201.
- <sup>27</sup> AA/6/1196-1197.
- <sup>28</sup> AA/6/1201.
- <sup>29</sup> AA/6/1201-1202.

by Bolden's girlfriend, Rhonda Robinson.<sup>30</sup> AJ and Jad then drove away in AJ's car which was described by many witnesses as an older dark-colored Chevy Camaro.<sup>31</sup>

Bolden had known AJ for a few weeks and had ridden in his Camaro previously.<sup>32</sup> Days after the incident he remembered that AJ had told someone in a phone conversation that he would pick up his mail at 3070 South Nellis. Bolden communicated this to Officer Valenzuela, who went to that location and located a car which answered the description of the vehicle witnesses had seen leaving the scene.<sup>33</sup> He obtained the license number of that vehicle which was 24F401, and then did a DMV search which indicated the car was registered to Arnold Anderson. From that, Officer Valenzuela obtained a copy of Anderson's photo from his driver's license on file with the DMV and put together a six-picture photo array which included the Anderson photo.<sup>34</sup>

Officer Valenzuela and Detective Mendoza went to Bolden's home and showed the photo array to Bolden and his girlfriend Rhonda. The photo arrays were shown separately to Bolden (by Valenzuela in the living room) and Rhonda (by Mendoza in the bedroom). They both identified Anderson as the person who

- <sup>32</sup> AA/6/1198,
- <sup>33</sup> AA/7/1474.
- <sup>34</sup> AA/7/1475-1476.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> AA/5/1118-1127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> AA/6/1237.

had shot Bolden and whom they both knew as AJ. These identifications gave police probable cause to arrest Anderson. They were hoping to arrest him in the car with the gun which they had been told he carried with him in the glove compartment when he was in the vehicle.<sup>35</sup>

Valenzuela and Mendoza put out a metro briefing stating that they were looking for the dark Camaro with license number 24F401. Officer Duke spotted the Camaro being driven by Jad with ANDERSON as a passenger, and he stopped it. ANDERSON was arrested and the Camaro was impounded pending obtaining a search warrant. <sup>36</sup> No gun was found in the car.

ANDERSON has at all times denied committing the crime, and denied even knowing Bolden or his girlfriend.<sup>37</sup> He asserts that he was never been known by the nickname of AJ.<sup>38</sup> He testified at his preliminary hearing that he was in California visiting family at the time of the shooting, and a picture of him taken by his sister, Latish Anderson, at 5:00 p.m. on August 23, 2016 on the beach in California, was admitted into evidence at that hearing.<sup>39</sup> ANDERSON further asserted that he had an auto repair receipt from a car repair shop in California showing that his car was being repaired while he was in California visiting his

- <sup>38</sup> AA/1/84.
- <sup>39</sup> AA/1/84-86, 89, 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> AA/7/1475-1483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> AA/7/1483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> AA/1/6.

family.<sup>40</sup> ANDERSON has at all times claimed that this is a case of mistaken identity.

#### VI

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

ANDERSON was improperly denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Alleged statements of ANDERSON's daughter were improperly admitted through an employee of the district attorney, denying ANDERSON his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses against him. In connection with that error, a jail call where he allegedly forfeited his right to confront that witness was also erroneously admitted over his objection that it was irrelevant and highly prejudicial.

Finally, Counts 1 and 3 were allowed to go forward to trial based on the court's statement that they were alternate theories and that ANDERSON would not be sentenced for both.<sup>41</sup> However, ANDERSON *was* sentenced separately under both counts and they were run consecutive. Sentencing ANDERSON under both counts amounts to double jeopardy or redundant convictions for the same crime (unit of prosecution). Accordingly, the conviction for Count 3 should be reversed.

<sup>40</sup> AA/1/207-208. <sup>41</sup> AA/2/360-361.

#### ARGUMENT

VII

#### A. <u>ANDERSON WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL</u>

### (Standard of Review: abuse of discretion)<sup>42</sup>

ANDERSON contends that he was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel because the district court refused his many requests to substitute appointed counsel, Kenneth Frizzell, with alternate counsel where ANDERSON had difficulty communicating with Frizzell and did not believe that Frizzell was adequately representing his interests. Finally, ANDERSON opted to represent himself after a year of unsuccessfully attempting to get the court to appoint alternate counsel. To add insult to injury, the court also appointed Mr. Frizzell to act as standby counsel while ANDERSON was representing himself. During the three-month period that Frizzell was acting as standby counsel, ANDERSON requested that different standby counsel be appointed as Mr. Frizzell was not helping him, and was not answering his phone calls. The court refused to even appoint alternate standby counsel.

In Brown v. Craven, the Ninth Circuit held that "...to compel one charged with grievous crime to undergo a trial with the assistance of an attorney with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 968 (2004); Jefferson v. State, 2014 WL 3764809, at 8 (Nev. July 29, 2014); United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-1159 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998).

whom he has become embroiled in irreconcilable conflict is to deprive him of the effective assistance of any counsel whatsoever."<sup>43</sup>

Likewise, the Washington appellate court found a denial of Sixth Amendment rights in a similar situation where a defendant requested several times before trial that her attorney be replaced, refused to talk to her attorney because the relationship had irretrievably broken down, and in fact refused to even attend her own trial unless another attorney was appointed.<sup>44</sup> In that case, the defendant asserted that counsel had threatened her, failed to consult the discovery before urging her to accept a plea offer, and failed to talk to her proposed defense The Court in Brady observed that, "[a] defendant's Sixth Amendment witnesses. right to effective assistance of counsel is violated if the relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses."45 The Court further held that in order "[t]o determine whether an irreconcilable conflict exists, the Washington Supreme Court has adopted the Ninth Circuit's three-part test. The factors include '(1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion.<sup>346</sup> This Court adopted the same test in the decision of Young v. State.<sup>47</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Brown v. Craven, 424 F.2d 1166, 1170 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1970).

<sup>44</sup> State of Washington v. Brady, 2003 Wash. App. LEXIS 1105 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Brady, supra, at 7, citing, In re Personal Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 722, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (citing United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158 (9th Cir. 1998)).

 $<sup>^{46}</sup>$  Brady, supra, at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 966-968 (2004).

### 1. SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT WAS VIOLATED

Analyzing these factors in the context of this case, it is clear that ANDERSON's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated.

#### a. Extent Of Conflict

ANDERSON represented to the court that his attorney failed to communicate with him, failed to locate witnesses, failed to file appropriate motions, and failed to accumulate documents and evidence.<sup>48</sup>

01-24-17

THE DEFENDANT: I don't want him as counsel, period, because I can't even talk to that man.

THE COURT: But at this point I'm going to deny the motion. In a week you can come back and you can make further representations to the Court. So, one week.<sup>49</sup>

<u>02-08-17</u>

On February 8, 2017, ANDERSON filed a civil rights complaint against his attorney.<sup>50</sup> He asserted that his attorney had failed to file motions to dismiss, failed to challenge redundant charges, and that he had failed to follow up on pictures taken by ANDERSON's sister of ANDERSON in California at the time of the shooting.<sup>51</sup>

- <sup>50</sup> AA/1/216.
- <sup>51</sup> AA/1/221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> AA/2/168-169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> AA/2/210-211.

#### <u>03-07-17</u>

ANDERSON brought a motion to dismiss counsel. At the hearing on that

motion, the following colloquy took place.

THE DEFENDANT: Me and him are having problems communicating. I called him 26 times and haven't got to talk to him not one time. When we had the last hearing in January you asked if I've ever talked to him and you would order him to visit me in the jail....He did....I've been incarcerated six months and I've only seen him twice. He's not doing the things that I'm asking him to do as far as part of my defense. I don't understand what's happening here. He's not doing anything I ask him. You said I need a legal basis. What kind of legal basis do I need not to have him represent me because there's a conflict. I don't understand what's going on here, I really don't.

THE COURT: Okay. Well I can tell you you have not stated a legal basis. Your attorney, Mr. Frizzell, you are communicating with him; correct? MR. FRIZZELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You've already made a record of the times you've gone over there and your investigator has gone over there as well....

MR. FRIZZELL: At least at this point that particular alibi witness is not panning out to what Mr. Anderson told me that this witness would pan out to.

THE COURT: So, at this time the motion is denied. But you've also asked -- if you want to represent yourself, I don't think that's a good idea.

THE DEFENDANT: It's the same thing having him as a lawyer. Nothing's gonna get done.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, at this time I'm going to deny your motion. If you want to represent yourself you can let me know and I'll set it for you to have an opportunity to have a *Faretta* canvass.

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. I would like to represent myself.

THE COURT: You want to represent yourself? Okay. We'll set it for one week for a *Faretta* canvass.<sup>52</sup>

AA/2/247-249.

#### <u>03-16-17</u>

At a hearing on March 16<sup>th</sup>, the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: You've indicated you want to represent yourself; correct? THE DEFENDANT: Correct. <sup>53</sup>

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. *If Kenneth Frizzell wasn't ineffective I wouldn't be standing to represent myself* if he was [indiscernible]. THE COURT: Okay. That's – I repeatedly told you you're entitled to an appointed counsel. You're not entitled to an attorney of your choice, and I'm not sure I could ever satisfy you.<sup>54</sup> (emphasis added)

<u>03-23-17</u>

The matter was continued to March 23, 2017, at which time the following

exchange took place, which made it clear that Mr. Frizzell was not communicating

with ANDERSON who did not even know that a plea deal had been made or that

he was facing life in prison:

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, like I was forcing (sic) this situation because you wouldn't replace the counsel. I've explained it for you like [indiscernible].....I wasn't trying to start anything.

THE COURT: Here's – I'm going to remind you. You are entitled to have appointed counsel. You are not entitled to have counsel of your choice. Okay. I do not find a legal basis – if I thought there was a legal basis I would appoint alternative counsel. Okay. I don't think there is.<sup>55</sup>

THE DEFENDANT: I get the idea that he's not going to help me when I ask him – when I felt this case was getting kind of complicated, when I felt like I wasn't getting anywhere, I asked him I said have you thought about trying to resolve this case. He told me I'm not going to resolve this while

<sup>55</sup> AA/2/326.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> AA/2/270.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> AA/2/282.

you're trying to fire me and represent yourself. So, that's where I got that idea from. This, Your Honor, like I'm being forced in this situation today to represent myself and try to --

THE COURT: Okay. Well he did give you a deal from the State? THE DEFENDANT: No, he didn't. THE COURT: He didn't? MR. FRIZZELL: It's right there.<sup>56</sup>

THE COURT: You're awful young to be facing life in prison; do you understand that? THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. THE COURT: Okay. Did you know that before today? THE DEFENDANT: No.<sup>57</sup>

Once again, ANDERSON reiterated that if he had to continue with Mr.

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