#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
May 23 2018 01:13 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

ARNOLD ANDERSON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 74076

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SANDRA L. STEWART, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court conducted thorough inquiry into alleged conflict between Appellant and his appointed counsel and found that Appellant did not demonstrate "a complete breakdown of communication, or an irreconcilable conflict which [could] lead...to an apparently unjust verdict." <u>Gallego v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 348, 363, 23 P.3d 227, 237 (2001). Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request to substitute new appointed counsel.

Appellant claims that his conviction for Attempted Murder and Battery violate Double Jeopardy. In <u>Jackson v. State</u> this Court found that Attempted Murder (NRS 193.330, NRS 200.010) and Battery (NRS 200.481) do not violate Double Jeopardy: "the statutes do not proscribe the same offence, and the presumption against multiple

punishments for the same offence does not arise." 128 Nev. 598, 607, 291 P.3d 1274, 1280 (2012). Accordingly, Appellant's claim fails.

Finally, the State has proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellant wrongfully procured absence of the witness against him. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it concluded that under the doctrine of forfeiture by wrongdoing the State was permitted to introduce the absent witness' statements through the investigator.

Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's convictions.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE REQUEST FOR NEW APPOINTED COUNSEL BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE GOOD CAUSE

A. Appellant waived his right to be represented by a counsel
This Court has held that "[a] criminal defendant has the right to selfrepresentation under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and the
Nevada Constitution." Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330, 337, 22 P.3d 1164, 1169
(2001). To waive one's right to counsel, this Court has stated that "an accused who
chooses self-representation must satisfy the court that his waiver of the right to
counsel is knowing and voluntary." Id. at 117 Nev. 337-38, 22 P.3d 1170. To
represent himself, a defendant must knowingly and intelligently forgo the benefits
associated with the right to counsel. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.
Ct. 2525, 2541 (1975). A proper Faretta canvass must determine if the accused

understands the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. Arajakis v. State, 108 Nev. 976, 980, 843 P.2d 800, 802 (1992). Further, the Nevada Supreme Court has adopted a rule that established guidelines and procedures that district courts should follow to ensure that a defendant who chooses self-representation has validly waived the right to counsel. Hooks v. State, 124 Nev. 48, 54, 176 P.3d 1081, 1084 (2008).

Here, the district court conducted a thorough Faretta canvass. See 2 AA 269-301, 317-376. The district court inquired into Appellant's level of education and ability to represent himself, and also emphasized that self-representation was not in his best interest "I think that's entirely unfair to you to have come in a process where you have to defend yourself and your life, basically, against someone who clearly knows what the rules are and you don't." 2 AA 321-324. The district court even drew a parallel between representing oneself and performing your own surgery, to make sure Appellant understood how complex it was. 2 AA 325. Nevertheless, Appellant insisted that he wanted to represent himself. 2 AA 324, 366. Accordingly, the district court made a finding that Appellant freely, voluntary and intelligently waived his right to be represented by a counsel, and allowed him to represent himself. Id.

Therefore, Appellant was not denied his constitutional right to a counsel—he was appointed counsel, but waived his right to be represented by an attorney and

chose to represent himself. So he cannot now be heard complaining that he was denied his constitutional right, when he knowingly and voluntary waived it. Therefore, appellant's claim that he was denied his right to counsel is belied by the record.

# B. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the request for new appointed counsel because Appellant failed to demonstrate good cause

Determining whether friction between a defendant and his attorney justifies substitution of counsel is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and this Court will not disturb such a decision on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. Thomas v. State, 94 Nev. 605, 607, 584 P.2d 674, 676 (1978). Generally, a district court should not summarily reject a motion for new counsel where such motion is made considerably in advance of trial without first conducting an "adequate inquiry" into the defendant's complaints. Garcia v. State, 121 Nev. 327, 337, 113 P.3d 836, 842 (2005) (quoting Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 968, 102 P.3d 572, 576 (2004)).

However, absent a showing of good cause, a defendant is not entitled to the substitution of court-appointed counsel at public expense. Garcia, 121 Nev. at 337, 113 P.3d at 842; Young, 120 Nev. at 968, 102 P.3d at 576. This Court has defined good cause only as "a conflict of interest, a complete breakdown of communication, or an irreconcilable conflict which [could] lead...to an apparently unjust verdict." Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 363, 23 P.3d 227, 237 (2001) (overruled on other grounds by Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 263 P.3d 235 (2011)). Good cause is

"not determined solely according to the subjective standard of what the defendant perceives." <u>Id</u>. Nor is "[t]he mere loss of confidence in appointed counsel...good cause." <u>Id</u>. While a defendant's lack of trust in counsel is a factor in the determination, a defendant must nonetheless provide the court with legitimate explanations for that lack of trust. <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>McKee v. Harris</u>, 649 F.2d 927, 932 (2nd Cir. 1981)).

Moreover, a defendant may not request substitution of counsel based on his own refusal to cooperate with present counsel because, as this Court has noted, ""[s]uch a doctrine would lead to absurd results." Thomas, 94 Nev. at 608, P.2d 674 at 676 (quoting Shaw v. United States, 403 F.2d 528, 529 (8th Cir. 1968)). Because counsel alone is responsible for tactical decisions regarding a defense, a mere disagreement between counsel and defendant regarding such decisions cannot give rise to an irreconcilable conflict justifying substitution. See Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). In particular, where a defendant disagrees with counsel's reasonable defense strategy and wishes instead to present his own illconceived strategy, no conflict of interest arises. See Gallego, 117 Nev. at 363, 23 P.3d at 237. Rather, attorney-client conflict warrants substitution "only when counsel and defendant are so at odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense." Id.

This Court has articulated three factors to consider when reviewing a district court's denial of a motion to substitute counsel: (1) the extent of the conflict; (2) the timeliness of the motion and the extent to which it would result in inconvenience of delay; and (3) the adequacy of the court's inquiry into the defendant's complaints. Young, 120 Nev. at 968-69, 102 P.3d at 576-78.

In the case at bar after thorough inquiry in the alleged conflict the district court properly denied Appellant's request for a substitute counsel, concluding that Appellant's allegations lack legal basis. On January 24, 2017, the district court held a hearing on Appellant's Pro Per Motion to Dismiss Counsel and Appoint New Counsel plus Pro per Ferretta Rights in order to determine the extent of the conflict. 1 AA 205. Appellant complained about his court-appointed attorney and informed the district court that the counsel does not communicate with him enough "he only talked to me in the jail one time." 1 AA 206. He also criticized counsel's investigation. 1 AA 207. The thrust of Appellant's complaint was his subjective belief that counsel does absolutely nothing to investigate his case and that he has no communication with him. See 1 AA 206-207. Appellant's counsel explained that he in fact was investigating appellant's alibi, but because the alibi witness was living out of state it was taking him longer to investigate. 1 AA 207-208.

Defendant is not entitled to a particular relationship with his attorney, and "not every restriction on counsel's time or opportunity to investigate or to consult with

his client or otherwise to prepare for trial violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel." Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 3, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 1612 (1983). Similarly, the proffered examples of counsel's conduct all involved strategic decisions reserved for counsel. As such, Appellant's complaints were insufficient to warrant new counsel before trial and the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the request. See Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. After hearing from both parties the district court ordered Appellant's attorney to communicate with him and set a status check in one week. 1 AA 210.

On January 31, 2017, during the status check, Appellant's attorney reported that he visited Appellant in the detention center, and that they were able to clear the misunderstanding between them. 1 AA 214. The district court then asked Appellant, who was present at the hearing if the representations made by his attorney were correct, to which Appellant responded: "[y]eah it's resolved." <u>Id</u>. Appellant also confirmed that he wanted to withdraw his complaint against his attorney. 1 AA 215. Accordingly, the conflict between Appellant and his attorney was not severe, since they were able to come to an understanding.

On March 7, 2017, the district court held a hearing on Appellant's renewed Motion to Dismiss Counsel. 2 AA 245. Appellant's attorney explained to the court that Appellant was going from sending him affectionate letters with a hand written made out type check for his services to "getting angry" with him. 2 AA 246.

Appellant again complained about his counsel not communicating with him enough and not investigating the alleged alibi witness from California. 2 AA 247-248. Appellant's attorney explained that he investigated the alleged alibi witness and that he was not "panning out." 2 AA 248. The district court explained to Appellant that his attorney cannot make a witness say things Appellant wants them to say. 2 AA 248. After considering these arguments the district court found that Appellant has failed to state a legal basis for his Motion to Dismiss Counsel, and denied it. 2 AA 247-248. Appellant then indicated that he wanted to represent himself. 2 AA 249. Again, as discussed supra, restrictions on attorney's amount of communication with defendant and investigation of the case are insufficient grounds to warrant the substitution of appointed counsel. Morris, 461 U.S. at 3, 103 S. Ct. at 1612; Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. Since none of Appellant's complaints were sufficient, the district court's decision to deny his request was not an abuse of discretion. See Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167; Gallego, 117 Nev. at 363, 23 P.3d at 237.

Finally, Appellant alleges that he was never communicated a plea deal offered by the State. AOB 15. This contention is false and belied by the record—Appellant's attorney communicated the deal to him, but he refused to accept it. 2 AA 356. In short, Appellant's unreasonable expectations about the work his attorney was supposed to do regarding his case are unsupported by the applicable legal standard. Morris, 461 U.S. at 3, 103 S. Ct. at 1612.

Therefore the inquiry conducted by the district court did not demonstrate "a complete breakdown of communication, or an irreconcilable conflict which [could] lead...to an apparently unjust verdict." <u>Gallego</u>, 117 Nev. at 363, 23 P.3d at 237. Appellant's request for a new attorney had no merit. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request to substitute new appointed counsel. Therefore, Appellant's claim fails.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISSCRETION WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF FORFEITURE BY WRONGDOING THE STATE WAS PERMITTED TO INTRODUCE STATEMENTS MADE BY THE WITNESS PROCURED UNAVAILABLE BY APPELLANT

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The Amendment contemplates that a witness who makes testimonial statements admitted against a defendant will ordinarily be present at trial for cross-examination, and that if the witness is unavailable, his prior testimony will be introduced only if the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine him. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 68, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 1359 (2004). A doctrine of forfeiture by wrongdoing allows "the introduction of statements of a witness who was detained or kept away by the means or procurement of the defendant." Giles v. California, 554 U.S. 353, 355, 128 S. Ct. 2678, 2681 (2008).

Although the United States Constitution gives the accused the privilege of being confronted with the witnesses against him, if "he voluntarily keeps the witnesses away, he cannot insist on his privilege." <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, if defendant procured a witness' absence, no constitutional violation occurs if the evidence that was supposed to be presented thru the absent witness is "supplied in some lawful way." Id.

The Ninth Circuit following <u>Giles</u> explained that the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine is an exception to the Confrontation Clause's protections and applies "where there has been affirmative action on the part of the defendant that produces the desired result, non-appearance by a prospective witness against him in a criminal case." <u>Carlson v. AG of Cal.</u>, 791 F.3d 1003, 1010 (9th Cir. 2015). Another Ninth Circuit decision similarly stated that the forfeiture by wrongdoing exception applies against a criminal defendant when the defendant acted with the design to prevent the witness from testifying. <u>United States v. Hernandez</u>, 715 F. App'x 604, 606 (9th Cir. 2017). In <u>Hernandez</u> the Ninth Circuit found that the district court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed the prosecution to introduce statements made by the witness who was absent due to defendant's wrongful actions (as was established by preponderance of the evidence). <u>Id</u>.

Here, the State has proved by preponderance of the evidence that Appellant procured the unavailability of the witness against him. During trial the State received

information of a phone call made by Appellant to his daughter, who was prosecution's witness, where he was asking her to disappear and to leave her phone, so she could not be tracked and subpoenaed to testify at trial. 5 AA 1059. For this reason, despite numerous fruitless attempts to locate her, she was unavailable to come in and testify at trial to the statements she made earlier to the State's investigator. Id. The said phone call was played for the judge in the courtroom when the State moved to admit the unavailable witness' statements under the doctrine of forfeiture by wrongdoing. 5 AA 1062. After that, Appellant had an opportunity to address the court and made statements in his defense, he argued that the person he spoke to was not his daughter. 5 AA 1062-1063. However, the State had in its possession the recording of another phone call made on August 3, 2017, to the same phone number where Appellant says "happy birthday." 6 AA 1259. According to the records August 3 is in fact his daughter's birthday. <u>Id</u>.

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